SUPREME COURT

S230104

IN THE SUPREME COURT **OF THE** STATE OF CALIFORNIA

OI IN	_	IVIL	- 01	JUN	ı
			E	D	

MAR 1 5 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

JAIME A. SCHER et al., Plaintiffs, Appellants and Respondents,

v.

JOHN F. BURKE et al., Defendants, Appellants and Respondents.

On Review From The Court Of Appeal For the Second Appellate District, Division Three, 2nd Civil No. B235892

After An Appeal From the Superior Court For The State of California. County of Los Angeles, Case Number BC 415646, Hon. Malcolm Mackey

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

INTRODUCTION

Imagine not being able to drive your car down the road to your own home. Imagine not knowing, if you can get to your home, whether you will be able to drive out and go to work the next day. Imagine wondering whether, in a life-threatening emergency, an ambulance would be able to get to you in time.

This may sound like a futuristic post-apocalyptic nightmare, but it has been reality for Jaime Scher and Jane McAllister for many years. It is the potential reality of many others who live in rural and semi-rural areas, which often are not that far from urban and suburban commercial centers.

In 1998, Jaime and Jane bought a home in the Topanga Canyon neighborhood of the City of Los Angeles, near the little town of Topanga. All was well at first, but as ownership of other homes in the neighborhood changed hands, neighbors began blocking Jaime and Jane's path of travel south down Henry Ridge Road to Gold Stone Road to Greenleaf Canyon and finally to Topanga Canyon Road to access neighborhood businesses and services, such as the post office, dry cleaners, grocery and feed store. Poor road conditions and gates and barriers on other roads left Jaime and Jane with no alternatives. In the end, a lawsuit to establish access rights became the only option.

Jaime and Jane prevailed at the trial court level in 2011, persuading the judge the portions of Henry Ridge Road and Gold Stone

Road they need to use, and had been using, were public roads due to use by the public over a period of years. They were unsuccessful on their private easement and adverse possession theories, but finally were able to sleep at night – for a while. Despite a judgment in their favor, the neighbors continued to block the roads. Then in 2015 the court of appeal reversed the portion of the judgment finding the roads are public, but affirmed the trial court's rejection of the private right theories, plunging Jaime and Jane back into their nightmare scenario of not being able to get home.

In returning Jaime and Jane to this bleak situation, the court of appeal interpreted Civil Code Section 1009 as having completely repealed the law of implied dedication, even with respect to roads, the situation in which implied dedication had been most commonly applied. This created a conflict with existing case law, necessitating resolution of that conflict by this Court.

Civil Code Section 1009 was enacted in response to a prior decision of this Court which arguably extended the law of implied dedication in a manner various commentators characterized as meaning no property owner's title and right to use his or her property was secure, interfering dramatically with potential development. (Gion v. City of Santa Cruz (1970) 2 Cal.3d 29 (consolidated with Dietz v. King ("Gion-Dietz"). The question is whether the Legislature's reaction was limited to this apparent extension of the law, or also to the underlying doctrine of implied dedication itself. A close examination of section 1009 in light of

principles of statutory construction leads to the conclusion that the Legislature did not intend to completely put an end to implied dedication and that, as to roads used for non-recreational purposes, the law of implied dedication lives on.

II.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does Civil Code section 1009 preclude non-recreational use of non-coastal private property from ripening into a public road?
- 2. Did the enactment of Civil Code section 1009 change the law of implied dedication by prohibiting implied dedication of a road on non-coastal property?

III.

FACTS¹

The roads which wind through the rural properties which are the subject of this action are situated on Henry Ridge, perched above Topanga Canyon. (Exhibits admitted at trial, hereinafter "Ex.", 1, 2, 3 and 5; see also Ex. A to Judgment, 6 CT 1255.) Jaime A. Scher and Jane McAllister ("Plaintiffs"), are the owners of the real property located at 1550 Henry Ridge Motorway, Topanga, California 90290 ("Scher Property"). (6 CT 1230-31.) Richard Erickson, Wendie Malick, Richard B. Schroder, Andrea D. Schroder, Gemma Marshall, and John and Germaine Burke

¹ The statement of facts takes into account judgments are presumed to be correct, and all inferences are to be made to support the judgment (*Denham v. Super.Ct. (Marsh & Kidder)* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 557, 564; *Cahill v. San Diego Gas & Elec. Co.* (2011) 194 Cal.App.4th 939, 956).

("Defendants") are the owners of various parcels of real property located on Henry Ridge Motorway and on Gold Stone Road south of the Scher Property, between Plaintiffs' home and the town center of Topanga. (6 CT 1232-51.)

A. <u>Historical Development of the Henry Ridge Area and Use of</u> <u>Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone Road Before 1972.</u>

Henry Ridge Motorway existed as a road before 1895. The area, divided by the United States into Sections of 160 acres each, was surveyed by the United States three times between 1853 and 1895. These surveys depict a "Road" that corresponds with what is now called Henry Ridge Motorway. (Ex. 194, Maps, Tab 1-3; 5 RT 702:4-25; 720:2-721:23.) In 1895, the Road now known as Henry Ridge Motorway proceeded north, through Section 12, Township 1, Range 17 West. Section 12 encompassed the properties now owned by Defendants Richard and Andrea Schroder ("Schroder Property"), and Richard Erickson and Wendie Malick ("Erickson Property"). Section 1, adjacent to and north of Section 12, encompasses the property owned by Defendant Gemma Marshall (the "Marshall Property"), and the Scher Property. (Ex. 194, Maps, Tabs 1-3, 5 RT 720:2-724:7; See also Ex. 194, Maps, Tab 12.) Plaintiffs also own real property in Section 12 ("Section 12 Property"). (3 RT 91:28-92:11: 6 RT 939:15-18; Ex. 2.)

All Defendants' land owned was owned by the federal government in 1895. (Ex. 194, Maps, Tabs 1-3; 5 RT 724:17-25.)

Government land patents were issued by the United States to homesteaders for surrounding land in 1897 and 1899. (5 RT 737:18-738:4.) Surveys completed in 1853 and 1895 specifically noted a "Road" in the same location as what is now Henry Ridge Motorway, connecting with what is now the intersection of Gold Stone Road and Greenleaf Canyon Road, and continuing across Section 7, encompassing a small portion of land owned by Defendants John and Germaine Burke ("Burke Property"). (Ex. 194, Maps, Tabs 1-4.)

Defendants' lands were patented to homesteaders as follows:

- September 26, 1902: to Casimir Mazet, encompassing some of the Erickson Property. (Ex. 194, Documents, Tab 2; Maps, Tabs 10 and 12; 5 RT 731:2-731:13.)
- December 31, 1903: to Felipe Torres, encompassing the rest of the Erickson Property as well as the Schroder Property. (Ex. 194, Documents, Tab 1; Maps, Tabs 10 and 12; 5 RT 729:11-731:1.)
- June 12, 1911: to Stella S. McAllister, encompassing the Burke Property. (Ex. 194, Documents, Tab 3; Maps, Tabs 11 and 12; 5 RT 731:2-733:18.)
- October 23, 1911: to William D. Reynolds, encompassing the Marshall property. (Ex. 194, Documents, Tab 4; Maps, Tabs 10 and 12; 5 RT 731:2-733:18.)

Exhibits and testimony presented at trial by expert witness Anya Stanley showed the area including Plaintiffs' and Defendants' properties underwent significant development, with the attendant usage of the roadways, between the late 1800's, continuing through the early 1900's, and up to the present. (5 RT 734:12-740:25; see also 6 RT 967:23-978:11.) Not surprisingly, Ms. Stanley was unable to locate eyewitnesses to usage of the road in the 1890's. (5 RT 734:17-735:3.) Accordingly, she relied upon available documents and information, which showed mail delivery to the Henry Ridge area via wagons started in 1880 (5 RT 743:7-744:18), a tavern and restaurant with cabins behind it were operating in 1905 on the Burke Property (5 RT 744:19-745:17), and in 1885, tourists started visiting the area from Santa Monica (5 RT 745:19-746:20).

John MacNeil, Defendants' expert witness at trial, created historical maps depicting the Henry Ridge area in 1908 as the site of houses, taverns, inns, campsites, a general store, and a post office ("1908 MacNeil Map"). Wagons were prevalent in Old Topanga Canyon at that time. (Ex. 194, Maps 4; 5 RT 741:5-742:19; Ex. 194, Photos, Tabs 1 through 5, 7 and 8.) People who were occupying and cultivating the patented land, whose presence became more prevalent and frequent as the years wore on, utilized the "Road," which became known as "The Ridge Trail" by 1908, and subsequently "Henry Ridge Motorway," as access to and from the post office, general store, taverns, and the like. (5 RT 734:12-742:19.)

The 1908 MacNeil Map provided evidence of the existence of Henry Ridge Motorway in 1908, which at that time was known as "The Ridge Trail." It connected from "Greenleaf's Road," now known as Greenleaf Canyon Road, which extended over and across a portion of Section 7, encompassing the Burke Property, through Section 12, over the Erickson Property and Schroder Property, and over Section 1, the Marshall Property, through the Scher Property, but also extending into Section 36 to the north. (Ex. 194, Maps, Tab 4; 5 RT 727:9 - 728:26; 13 RT 3134:26-3135:27; 13 RT 3136:26 - 3137:3.)

By 1920, there were automobiles in the area. (Ex. 194, Photos, Tab 14.) By 1935, the County of Los Angeles commissioned, expended public funds, and conducted County Survey B Series Official Surveys, whereby the "Road," and later "The Ridge Trail," became officially named "Henry Ridge Motorway" from Mulholland Highway to Topanga Canyon Boulevard. (5 RT 748:2-749:24; Ex. 194, Maps, Tabs 6 and 7.) The name change is significant because it reflects the fact that, by 1935, people were travelling the road by automobile or other motorized vehicles, which required the Road be re-graded and re-banked so it was compatible with motor vehicles; thus, the designation of the road as a "Motorway." (Ex. 194, Maps, Tabs 6 and 7; 5 RT 749:4-24.)

In 1948, a Grant Deed recorded in the Official Records of the Los Angeles County Recorder's Office created an express easement south from the Scher Property for ingress and egress along Henry Ridge Motorway, which was then described as "that certain road only, now known as a fire road and connected with proposed Mulholland Blvd" ("1948 Easement"). (4 RT 316:1-317:28; Ex. 52.) Property along Henry Ridge Motorway thereafter was connected to Greenleaf Canyon Road as early as 1949 via a Grant Deed of Roadway across the Burke Property, creating a new roadway which would become known as Gold Stone Road. (6 RT 935:5-937:5; Ex. 194, Documents, Tab 15, Maps, Tab 8; see also Ex. 51; 5 RT 648:1-649:4.) The 1952 U.S. Geological Survey Quad Maps showed Gold Stone Road as it exists today, indicating its use to travel from Greenleaf Canyon to Henry Ridge Motorway. (Ex. 194, Maps, Tabs 8 and 9; Ex. 198; Exs. 51 and 53; 6 RT 937:10-941:24; see also 8 RT 1617:26-1618:8; 1632:11-18.)

B. Subdivision of Properties Within the Henry Ridge Area and Continued Use of the Roadways Prior to 1972.

When the subject properties in the Topanga Canyon area along Henry Ridge were being subdivided, easements were required to be reserved for access over Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone Road. The Subdivision Ordinance of Los Angeles County in effect in 1968 and 1970 required the subdivider to provide access to the subdivided lots from a public street. The only access available at

8

that time was via Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone Road. (6 CT 1214-1215; 5 RT 752:24-761:2; 8 RT 1625:27-1629:8; Exs. 53, 54, 55 and 56.)

The first subdivision in the area, of the Schroder Property and parts of the Erickson Property, was effected by a Declaration and Grant of Easements, recorded on December 4, 1968 with an attached map showing Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone Road ("1968 Declaration and Grant of Easements"). (Ex. 53; see also, Ex. 194, Docs., Tab 16; 6 RT 937:10-941:24) The 1968 Declaration and Grant of Easements attached a map which demonstrated the subdivider's intention to dedicate Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone Road as public roads, as the 1968 Declaration and Grant of Easement depicted the subject roads to be dedicated as physically laid out on the ground. (Exs. 51 and 53; 6 RT 937:10-941:24; see also 8 RT 1639:9-1641:4.) The easements were specifically granted as appurtenant to and benefitting all land in Section 12, including the Section 12 property owned by Plaintiffs, declaring "the strips of land on said map, attached hereto, to be easements for road purposes." (6 RT 937:10-937:13, 938:1-938:8, 939:3-939:18; 8 RT 1639:9-1642:8.) The 1968 Declaration and Grant of Easements was intended to be connected to the 1949 Grant Deed of Roadway, specifically referencing it by document number on the attached map, granting rights over the section of Gold Stone

Road on the property located at 635 Greenleaf Canyon Road owned by the Burkes. (6 RT 940:6-941:16.)

In addition to the 1968 Declaration and Grant of Easements, the 1952 U.S. Geological Survey Quad Maps showed the existence of Gold Stone Road as it exists today, indicating its use to travel from Greenleaf Canyon to Henry Ridge Motorway, and use of those roads prior to the revision of the Quad Map in 1967. (Ex. 194, Maps, Tabs 8 and 9; Ex. 198; Exs. 51 and 53; 6 RT 937:10-941:24; see also 8 RT 1617:26-1618:8; 1632:11-18.)

In 1970, three "Declarations and Grant of Easements" were recorded concurrently evidencing that Henry Ridge Motorway was the access for multiple subdivisions of properties in the area, including the Marshall Property, and part of the Erickson Property ("1970 Declarations and Grants of Easements"). The 1970 Declarations and Grants of Easements were recorded by a developer, Brett Smithers, whose three companies owned parcels of property along Henry Ridge Motorway, and who had to create access easements as a prerequisite to subdivision and development. (Ex. 54, 55, 56; 5 RT 753:13-761:3; Ex. 194, Documents, Tabs 5, 14, 16 and 25.) The 1970 Declarations and Grants of Easements, which utilized a method authorized at that time called a Certificate of Exception, also specifically "declare the strips of land . . . as easements for road purposes" appurtenant to all land in Section 12, with attached maps depicting Henry Ridge Motorway that

specifically show "Dedicated roads per attached declaration 32 feet from center line." (5 RT 752:28 - 770:4; 6 RT 911:8-914:22; Exs. 54, 55, 56 and 213.)

Expert witness Steve Opdahl, a land surveyor, confirmed that, as a condition for the approval of the subdivisions by the County, the maps were required to demonstrate the subdivided properties would have access to a public street or highway. (5 RT 755:6-23; see also 8 RT 1625:27-1629:8.) The term "dedicated roads" contained explicitly within the 1970 Declarations and Grants of Easements conclusively demonstrated an intent by the subdivider to dedicate Henry Ridge Motorway to public use in order to provide proper access to and from the subdivisions. (6 CT 1215.)

The recording of the 1970 Declarations and Grants of Easements created a network of roads benefitting all parcels contained within Section 1 and Section 12. (6 CT 1216; 5 RT 764:24-766:26.) These 1970 Declarations and Grants of Easements burden properties along Henry Ridge Motorway South of the Scher Property. (5 RT 768:13-770:4.) Moreover, the 1970 Declarations and Grants of Easements contain maps of Henry Ridge Motorway. The trial court found this network of roads, including the existing Henry Ridge Motorway, was intended to, and did, provide access for homeowners along the ridge. (6 CT 1216; see 5 RT 764:24-766:26.)

The access and utilization of Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone Road prior to 1970 indicates those roadways were

intended to, and did in fact, connect to Greenleaf Canyon Road, thus creating the network of roads for the development of the land, enabling the sale to different individuals who were the predecessors of Defendants in this action, and the use of these toads by the public to access Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone Road from Greenleaf Canyon Road. (6 CT 1216; 5 RT 764:24-766:26.) The existence and use of these roads by the public as a prerequisite to development of the area demonstrated an intention by the subdivider of each respective parcel to dedicate Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone Road. (6 CT 1215-1216.)

C. <u>Use of Subject Roadways by Plaintiffs, Defendants'</u> Predecessors, Defendants and the Public Before and After 1972

Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone Road were used by Defendants, Plaintiffs' predecessors, Plaintiffs, neighbors, and members of the general public for access to, from and through the neighborhoods, and generally, until Defendants began blocking the roads in 2006. (6 CT 1207-1228.)

Plaintiffs' predecessor-in-interest was Pauline Stewart, whom Defendant Marshall referred to as the "Matriarch of the Ridge." (11 RT 2507:21-2508:3.) Ms. Stewart, who was 91 at the commencement of trial, and whose testimony was presented at trial via deposition transcript, had lived in Topanga for many years and in 1977 built the home on what is now the Scher Property. (5 RT

654:17-656:16.) Ms. Stewart testified the public used all the roads in the Henry Ridge area for fifty years. (8 RT 1512:21-1513:12.)

Ms. Stewart held multiple community meetings over the years in a concerted effort, among other things, to maintain and pave Henry Ridge Motorway. (5 RT 663:14-668:17.) Ms. Stewart testified the Fire Department had maintained Henry Ridge Motorway from at least the 1930's. (7 RT 1341:2-1343:6.) Her brother had maintained the road after the Fire Department ceased doing so. (5 RT 658:5-659:3; 8 RT 1516:23-27; 7 RT 1352:4-26.) Ms. Stewart stated she and her family drove Henry Ridge Motorway south of the Scher Property all the way down to the then-existing School Road, and she believed the roads were "public property." (8 RT 1516:4-22; 8 RT 1517:28-1518:18.) She believed she had the right to use Henry Ridge Motorway south of the Scher Property because it had been used by the public for fifty years, and she transferred that right to Plaintiffs when she sold them the Scher Property. (8 RT 1512:19-1514:7; 1516:4-22.)

Documents recorded by the California Coastal Commission,² to which are attached Coastal Commission Staff Reports prepared in

² Civil Code section 1009 defines "coastal property" in subdivision (f) as land "which lies within 1,000 yards inland of the mean high tide line of the Pacific Ocean." While the Coastal Act states this is generally the inland limit of the "coastal zone," the coastal zone, and the Commission's jurisdiction, extends much further inland in many areas and is defined by maps. (Public Resources Code section 30103.) Thus, portions of the Henry Ridge area are within the Coastal Commission's

1987, state: "Even though Henry Ridge Motorway is sparsely developed at present, these privately maintained roads have become commonly used recreational links between growing clusters of development in the mountains. While currently unimproved, these roads have never-the-less functioned as public thru-ways and have historically been open to unobstructed vehicular and pedestrian traffic." (6 RT 917:6-922:15; Ex. 194, Docs. Tab 7, p. GM 0124.)

Similar statements are contained in another recorded Coastal Commission document which mandated that the owners of the Schroder Property and the Erickson Property "shall not interfere with the present public use of this road," referring to Henry Ridge Motorway. (Ex. 194, Docs., Tab 19; 6 RT 946:13-954:3.)

Multiple Coastal Commission deed restrictions, with similar documents attached, have been recorded, imposing conditions on development in the area, and confirming the existence and use of Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone Road. (Ex. 194, Docs., Tabs 17 and 18; 6 RT 943:1-946:12.)

Plaintiffs first used the subject roads beginning with their move to the area in 1988, even before their purchase of the Scher property. They have used the subject roads on a frequent and regular basis since they moved to the Scher Property in 1998. (CT 1224.) At trial, Plaintiff Jaime Scher, testified he began regularly driving the length of Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone Road in 1989. (3 RT 60:26-61:15.)

jurisdiction even though it is not "coastal property" for purposes of Section 1009. (Ex. 13.)

His use of the roads was without permission and continued steadily through 1998, when it increased substantially. (3 RT 61:27-62:11; 65:19-65:28; 73:21-74:11; 78:4-79:14; 83:6-83:21.) Beginning in 1998, he and his wife regularly drove Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone Road to access the post office, markets, liquor store, music shop, feed store, auto repair shop, restaurants, and dry cleaners. (3 RT 87:22-89:14; 3 RT 92:12-28.)

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