In The

Supreme Court of California

JAIME A. SCHER, et al., Plaintiffs and Respondents,

US.

JOHN F. BURKE, et al., Defendants and Appellants. SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 17 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Three—Case No. B235892

On Appeal from the Los Angeles Superior Court Hon. Malcolm Mackey, Judge—Case No. BC415646



ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RICHARD ERICKSON, WENDIE MALICK, RICHARD B. SCHRODER, and ANDREA D. SCHRODER

GARRETT & TULLY, P.C.
*Ryan C. Squire, SBN 199473
Zi C. Lin, SBN 236989
Motunrayo D. Akinmurele, SBN 299868
225 South Lake Avenue, Suite 1400
Pasadena, California 91101

Issue Presented.

The Court granted review of the following issue: "Does Civil Code section 1009 preclude non-recreational use of non-coastal private property from ripening into an implied dedication of a public road?"

The answer is an unequivocal, "Yes." 1

II.

Introduction.

This case is not about landowners who cannot access their property. Plaintiffs (who, like defendants, live in a rural, sparsely populated, mountainous area) have five access routes to their property (not counting the one they seek over defendants' properties). (Slip Opn., pp. 4, 16, 21, 45.) Indeed, plaintiffs traveled to court during trial by using their alternate routes. (5RT614.) The trial court (following a bench trial) did not find that plaintiffs were landlocked, and Division Three of the Second District found, "Plaintiffs' land is by no means landlocked." (Slip Opn., p. 21.) As the court of appeal explained, plaintiffs simply wish to use defendants' properties because it is sometimes more "convenient" and shaves a few minutes off of plaintiffs' drive to the nearby rustic town of Topanga. (See Slip Opn., pp. 16, 45.)

Nor (as plaintiffs urge) does the court of appeal's reading of section 1009 bar a landowner from acquiring *private* access rights via, for example, a prescriptive, express, or equitable easement.

Instead, this case is about plaintiffs' desire to use the doctrine of implied dedication (by public user) to gain access for *themselves* in order to avoid the findings by the trial and appellate courts that

Unspecified statutory references are to the Civil Code. A copy of section 1009 is appended to this brief.

plaintiffs do not have any *private* right to use defendants' properties. (Slip Opn., pp. 42–44.) No one else is clamoring for an implied dedication.

The Legislature, however, prospectively abrogated the doctrine of implied dedication based on public use in the non-coastal zone (absent the government's expending funds on visible improvements on private land) when section 1009 became effective in March 1972. The properties at issue are not located in the coastal zone (and the government expenditure exception does not apply). As such, the court of appeal—after an exhaustive and thorough analysis of the statute and legislative history—correctly rejected plaintiffs' claim for an implied dedication based on purported public use of defendants' properties after March 1972.

Plaintiffs urge (as they did in the court of appeal below) that their claim for implied dedication was properly based on purported public "non-recreational use" of defendants' properties. Plaintiffs contend that by enacting section 1009, the Legislature only intended to bar "recreational use" from ripening into an implied public dedication. The Legislature said and implied no such thing.

To support their argument, plaintiffs rely on the preamble to section 1009, which states in part: "It is in the best interests of the state to encourage owners of private real property to continue to make their lands available for public recreational use to supplement opportunities available on tax-supported publicly owned facilities." (§ 1009, subd. (a)(1), italics added.)

But (as the court of appeal held) plaintiffs ignore the operative language of the statute, where the Legislature—which we presume knew what it said and said what it meant—stated plainly that "no

use" of non-coastal property would ripen into an implied dedication. (§ 1009, subd. (b).) The Legislature surely knew how to say "recreational use" in subdivision (a), but expressly chose "no use" in subdivision (b) (and subdivisions (f) and (g).)

The Legislature believed that barring *any* use of non-coastal property from ripening into an implied public dedication would protect property owners and thus encourage them to make their lands available to the public without fear of losing their rights.

The legislative history confirms the Legislature created a coastal zone in which implied dedication survived (with limited exceptions), but otherwise prospectively abrogated the doctrine, including:

The Legislative Counsel's Digest: "Prohibits any use of private land, except specified ocean frontage land, after effective date [March 4, 1972] from conferring a vested right in public with specified exception for a public entity that makes visible improvement on such property" (RJN in support of AOB of Erickson, Ex. H, Legis. Counsel's Dig., Sen. Bill. No. 504 (1971 Reg. Sess. & 1971 1st Ex. Sess.) Summary Dig., p. 136, emphasis added.)

The Assembly's Analysis: "The doctrine of implied dedication would be deleted prospectively except for the 'coastal zone'" (RJN in support of AOB of Erickson, Ex. F, Assem. Com. on Planning and Land Use, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 504 (Legislative Sess.) July 20, 1971, p. 1, emphasis added; see id., p. 2 ["total abolition"]; see id., p. 2 [addressing concern that "abolition" of doctrine of implied dedication might negatively impact access roads in residential subdivisions—bill enacted nonetheless].)

The Enrolled Bill Memorandum to the Governor: "The bill also prohibits any use of private land, except specified ocean frontage

land, after the effective date of the bill from conferring a vested right in the public, with specified exceptions." (RJN in support of AOB of Erickson, Ex. G, Enrolled Bill mem. to Governor Reagan re Sen. Bill. No. 504 (1971 Reg. Sess.) Oct. 7, 1971, p. 1, emphasis added.)

"Recreational Purpose" Rejected: The Legislative Counsel proposed language for a competing bill, which targeted "use of the land for any recreational purpose," but the Legislative Counsel noted that "a question could be raised" about the meaning of "recreational purpose" unless that phrase were defined. (RJN, Ex. C, Legislative Counsel George Murphy, letter to Assemblyman Paul Priolo, Apr. 15, 1971, emphasis added.) By enacting section 1009 without that limitation, the Legislature necessarily rejected the idea of barring only recreational use from ripening into an implied dedication; instead, it barred all use from ripening into an implied dedication.

* * *

This is not a complicated case. The statute says "no use." It is unambiguous. This Court should affirm the court of appeal's judgment.

III.

The properties and access roads at issue.

The parties live in the rural, unincorporated area of Topanga in the Santa Monica Mountains of Los Angeles County. (See Slip Opn., p. 2; Trial Ex. 211.)

Plaintiffs' property is north of defendants' properties. South of plaintiffs' property is the Marshall property. Immediately south of the Marshall property is the Erickson/Malick property. Immediately east of the southern portion of the Erickson/Malick property is the Schroder property. And immediately east of the Schroder property is the Burke

property. (Slip Opn., pp. 3-4; Tr. Exs. 204 [showing defendants' properties], 203 [showing plaintiffs' property].)

Plaintiffs' property is approximately 20 acres in size, Marshall's is 10 acres, Erickson's/Malick's is over 50, the Schroders' is over 20, and the Burkes' is over 5. (Tr. Exs. 203, 204; 6RT932; 7RT1338; 9RT1834, 1847; 11RT2462, 2541; 12RT2769.)

This case concerns two "roadways" that are really just long driveways: Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone Road. Henry Ridge crosses plaintiffs' property as well as the Marshall, Erickson/Malick, and Schroder properties. Along the eastern portion of the Schroder property, Henry Ridge becomes Gold Stone. Gold Stone crosses the Schroder and Burke properties, where it eventually connects to Greenleaf Canyon Road. (Slip Opn., pp. 3–4; Tr. Exs. 203, 204.)²

Trial Exhibits 203 and 204 show Gold Stone and Henry Ridge in blue, as they lay on the ground. A local map identifies them as part of a continuous "private" "trail" bounded by "gate[s]." (Tr. Ex. 211 [center of map]; Slip Opn., p. 4.)

IV.

Henry Ridge "Motorway" is not safe nor fit for public use.

Before delving-into the merits, let us first dispense with any notion that Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone comprise a grand thoroughfare. They do not, nor did the lower courts find otherwise. The "roadways"—using that term loosely—are little more than narrow, winding, back-country driveways of the kind one might expect in the

² Plaintiffs also own property elsewhere in the area (in "Section 12"), but that property does not touch Gold Stone or Henry Ridge. (See Slip Opn., pp. 14–15, 45.)

rustic and sparsely populated Topanga mountains where the parties live.

Henry Ridge Motorway is dangerous. It is only 12-feet-wide at its widest, and narrows to a mere 9-feet. (Slip Opn., p. 3; 11RT2469.) Henry Ridge and Gold Stone join by way of a hairpin turn. (Slip Opn., p. 3.) The road is so narrow that two cars cannot pass one another: one car would have to drive backwards through steep, blind turns, without the aid of a turnaround. (11RT2470–2471.)

Henry Ridge is also at risk of washing-away during a storm. In 2005, a large mudslide eroded much of the hillside along the Schroder property; an engineered retaining wall would be required to even begin making the roadway safe for public use. (See 11RT2469.)

Further, Henry Ridge is only partially paved. (See, e.g., Tr. Exs. 15-11, 15-12, 15-15, 15-21, 34-1, 34-5, and 34-8.)

Against this backdrop, one can understand why the County of Los Angeles defines a "motorway" as: "A truck trail or trail through mountainous terrain, usually for fire equipment usage or service access; e.g., power lines, Nike sites, etc. *Not for public use*." (Slip Opn., p. 7 & fn. 4, quoting the Street Name Policy of the County of Los Angeles Department of Public Works as of June 28, 1999, and the House Numbering and Street Naming Manual of the Los Angeles Department of Public Works, dated April 1999, emphasis added.)

One can also understand why the fire department's approved emergency access is from the north of plaintiffs' property, not from the south across defendants' properties. (10RT2241–2242.)

And one can understand why the prior owner of plaintiffs' property (Pauline Stewart) testified that no one in his or her "right

mind" would use the portions of Henry Ridge traversing defendants' properties. (Slip Opn., p. 14; 8RT1544.)

V.

Because the government has not accepted the purported "dedication," and does not maintain the roads, defendants are gravely concerned they will be held liable for maintenance of, and any injuries occurring on, Henry Ridge and Gold Stone if Henry Ridge and Gold Stone are impliedly declared "public."

Defendants are gravely concerned about the effect of declaring Henry Ridge and Gold Stone "public" roads—particularly because, somewhat paradoxically, the government (1) has no duty to maintain a road that has been impliedly dedicated through public use unless the government formally accepts the dedication, and (2) is not liable for any injuries unless the government either formally accepts the dedication or maintains the road. (See Sts. & Hwy. Code, § 941, subd. (b); id., § 1806, subd. (a); Gov. Code, § 831.3; see, e.g., Hanshaw v. Long Valley Road Ass'n (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 471, 479–480 [11 Cal.Rptr.3d 357].) The government has not accepted the purported dedication, and does not maintain the roads. (Slip Opn., p. 33, fn. 13.)³

As discussed below, by enacting section 1009, the Legislature prospectively abrogated the doctrine of implied dedication in the non-

³ Pauline Stewart—the prior owner of plaintiffs' property—testified that for many years, the roads in the area were "just fire roads." (5RT658–659.) There is no evidence government funds were used to build Henry Ridge or Gold Stone, but the fire department maintained Henry Ridge until around 1992–1993 (7RT1219-1220; 11RT2502), when the county sent a letter stating that the fire department would no longer maintain Henry Ridge, and "declared" it a "private" road (8RT1546; 5RT666–667).

coastal zone, *unless* the government either (1) *accepts* a landowner's express offer of dedication, or (2) expends funds to *construct* or *maintain* visible improvements located on private land. (§ 1009, subds. (b), (d).)

Whether a landowner intends to dedicate his or her property to the public is of paramount concern. "To hold that property has been dedicated to a public use is not a trivial thing, and such dedication is never presumed without evidence of unequivocal intention." (*Trask v. Moore* (1944) 24 Cal.2d 365, 373 [149 P.2d 854], internal citations and quotations omitted.)

Requiring the government to expend funds on "visible" improvements, or requiring the owner to make an "express" offer of dedication, ensures the owner actually intends to dedicate his or her property. It is no longer enough to imply that intent simply because the public has purportedly used the property for five years, as permitted at common law prior to section 1009. (See *Gion v. City of Santa Cruz* (consolidated with *Dietz v. King*) (1970) 2 Cal.3d 29, 39 [84 Cal.Rptr. 162, 465 P.2d 50] (*Gion-Dietz*).)

VI.

Civil Code section 1009 precludes non-recreational use of noncoastal private property from ripening into an implied dedication of a public road.

In response to a widely perceived narrowing of private property rights by *Gion-Dietz*—and, equally if not more important, the ensuing risk that landowners would close their lands to public uses—the Legislature enacted Civil Code section 1009 to preserve and promote public recreational use of private property. (John Briscoe & Jan S.

Stevens, Gion After Seven Years: Revolution or Evolution? (1977) 53 L.A. Bar J. 207, 222-225.)

The Legislature understood that to achieve its goal of supplementing government-owned recreational areas, landowners would need to rest assured that "no use" of their property (not merely "no recreational use") could ripen into public rights. Otherwise, given the risk of any ambiguity between "recreational" and "non-recreational" use, landowners would simply shut-out the public completely rather than risk losing their property.

Thus, the Legislature prospectively abrogated the doctrine of implied dedication outside the coastal zone (property more than 1,000 yards from the mean high tide line).

This Court should affirm the court of appeal's judgment holding that section 1009 bars plaintiffs' claim for an implied dedication based on purported public use after section 1009 took effect in March 1972.

A. "No Use": The Legislature said what it meant and meant what it said.

Rules of statutory interpretation are well settled. "[W]e must look first to the words of the statute, 'because they generally provide the most reliable indicator of legislative intent.' [Citation.] If the statutory language is clear and unambiguous our inquiry ends. 'If there is no ambiguity in the language, we presume the Legislature meant what it said and the plain meaning of the statute governs.' [Citations.] In reading statutes, we are mindful that words are to be given their plain and commonsense meaning. [Citation.] ... Only when the statute's language is ambiguous or susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation, may the court turn to extrinsic aids to assist in

interpretation.' [Citation.]" (*Kirby v. Immoos Fire Protection, Inc.* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1244, 1250 [140 Cal.Rptr.3d 173, 274 P.3d 1160] (*Kirby*).)

Section 1009, subdivision (b), states: "Regardless of whether or not a private owner of real property has recorded a notice of consent to use of any particular property pursuant to Section 813 of the Civil Code or has posted signs on such property pursuant to Section 1008 of the Civil Code, except as otherwise provided in subdivision (d) [government expenditure exception], no use of such property by the public after the effective date of this section shall ever ripen to confer upon the public or any governmental body or unit a vested right to continue to make such use permanently, in the absence of an express written irrevocable offer of dedication of such property to such use, made by the owner thereof in the manner prescribed in subdivision (c) of this section, which has been accepted by the county, city, or other public body to which the offer of dedication was made, in the manner set forth in subdivision (c)." (Emphasis added.)

The Legislature carved-out coastal land, allowing the doctrine of implied dedication to survive in the coastal zone: "Subdivision (b) shall not apply to any coastal property which lies within 1,000 yards inland of the mean high tide line of the Pacific Ocean, and harbors, estuaries, bays and inlets thereof, but not including any property lying inland of the Carquinez Straits bridge, or between the mean high tide line and the nearest public road or highway, whichever distance is less." (§ 1009, subd. (e).)

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